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ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S DECLARATION

 
I, Robin Alfred Brett, the Inspector constituting the Victorian Inspectorate and the Head of 
the Victorian Inspectorate for the purposes of section 16 of the Public Administration Act 
2004, submit this Annual Report of the Victorian Inspectorate for the year ended 30 June 
2014 pursuant to section 45 of the Public Administration Act 2004 and declare that – 

(a) the Victorian Inspectorate has caused to be prepared, in accordance with Part 7  
 of the Public Administration Act 2004, this Annual Report of its operations during  
 the financial year; and

(b) I have caused to be prepared, in accordance with Part 7 of the Public Administration 
 Act 2004, the financial statements of the Victorian Inspectorate for the financial year 
 ended 30 June 2014 which are included in this Annual Report; and

(c) I submitted the financial statements of the Victorian Inspectorate to the  
 Auditor-General within 8 weeks after the end of the financial year.

Robin Brett QC
Inspector
Victorian Inspectorate
Melbourne
10 September 2014
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SECOND ANNUAL REPORT OF THE VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE

1 INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

This is the annual report of the Victorian Inspectorate (VI) for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

The VI was established by the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 (VI Act) on 1 July 2012. Robin Brett QC was 
appointed as the Inspector constituting the VI with effect from 1 January 2013; the appointment was for  
a term of five years. The VI commenced operations on 10 February 2013 (the Commencement Date).

Section 1 of the VI Act sets out the purpose of that Act as follows:

The purpose of this Act is to establish the Victorian Inspectorate to provide oversight of other 
integrity, accountability or investigatory bodies or officers, including the Independent Broad-
based Anti-corruption Commission and to monitor compliance by a Public Interest Monitor with 
the prescribed obligations.

2 INSPECTOR’S REPORT 

2013-2014 has been the first full year of operation for the VI. It has been a year of change and 
consolidation. As reported in the VI’s first annual report, on 30 September 2013 the VI moved to new 
premises located in the Melbourne Central Business District which had been specially furnished 
and fitted out for the VI, incorporating numerous measures to ensure the security of material in the 
possession of the VI. The move required substantial preparation but it proceeded efficiently. As might 
have been expected, there were some teething troubles with security and IT systems, and indeed the 
security difficulties have not yet been completely resolved, but the VI is well settled in the new premises 
and operating smoothly.

There have been changes of personnel. When the VI commenced operations the staff of the Special 
Investigations Monitor (SIM) became VI officers; no additional staff were recruited prior to the 
Commencement Date. Since then, however, two staff members have left and four new staff members 
have been recruited: two Principal Solicitors, a Business Services Coordinator and a Compliance Officer. 
It is likely that further recruitment will occur in the coming months. 

The VI received 618 statutory notifications from all the relevant agencies during the reporting period.  
The volume of work coming to the VI was much greater in the first half of 2014 than in the second half  
of calendar 2013. 

The number of complaints received by the VI remained reasonably steady during the reporting period, 
as did the quantity of records to be inspected by the compliance section of the VI. However the number 
of recordings and transcripts of coercive examinations received for review increased dramatically. From 
the Commencement Date to the end of September 2013 the VI had received only 7 coercive examinations 
to review, but from then until 30 June 2014 a total of 244 coercive examinations were received for review 
from the Chief Examiner, the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) and the 
Ombudsman’s office, making a total of 251 coercive examinations for review during the whole reporting 
period. The flow of coercive examinations has not reduced since the reporting period. 
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Relations with the bodies in respect of which the VI has oversight and monitoring functions are cordial 
and cooperative. The VI did not during the reporting period exercise any of its own coercive powers, but 
on numerous occasions, on receipt by the VI of a complaint about an Ombudsman officer or the IBAC, 
the VI requested information from the body concerned for the purpose of determining whether or not to 
commence a formal investigation. All such requests for information were responded to willingly, enabling 
the VI to assess and determine the complaint efficiently and satisfactorily. Similarly, where issues 
were identified by the VI with respect to records kept by an agency relating to telephone interception, 
surveillance devices or controlled operations, the agency was in each case cooperative and willing to 
engage in consultations to resolve the issues satisfactorily. 

The first full year of the VI’s existence has been interesting and challenging. Efficient working relationships 
have been established with the bodies in respect of which the VI has functions and powers. These will 
continue to develop, but no substantial issues have yet emerged.

I would like to acknowledge and thank my Chief Operations Officer, Neal Jedwab, for his assistance and 
guidance and to thank my staff for their commitment and tireless efforts throughout this financial year.

3 MATTERS REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED ON ANNUALLY BY THE VI 

The VI is a public body within the meaning of section 3 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and 
accordingly must, under section 45 of that Act, cause a report of its operations during each financial year 
to be prepared in accordance with Part 7 of that Act. Section 91 of the VI Act requires a number of specific 
matters relating to the operations of the VI to be included in the report. (These include the “prescribed 
information” relating to the performance of its duties and functions; however no information has been 
prescribed for the purposes of that provision.) Various other legislative provisions also require specific 
matters to be included.

Section 45 of the Financial Management Act requires the chief executive officer of the VI to prepare 
financial statements of the VI for the financial year. Section 49 of that Act sets out certain requirements 
regarding the financial statements. The financial statements appear as the final section of this report.

Section 48 of the Financial Management Act requires this report to be in a form and to contain information 
determined by the chief executive officer of the VI to be appropriate and to contain any other information 
required by the Minister. No such requirement has been made by the Minister.

The reporting requirements of the VI in relation to particular areas of the VI’s activities are described 
in the sections of this report relating to those areas. Thus, for example, the reporting requirements in 
relation to the IBAC are set out in the section of this report describing the functions of the VI in relation to 
the IBAC.

The matters about which the VI is required to report include complaints made to it. This report includes 
matters relating to complaints made to the VI concerning persons and bodies that the VI has jurisdiction 
to investigate. In addition, the VI received a number of enquiries and complaints concerning bodies 
in respect of which the VI has no jurisdiction at all, and in each case the VI endeavoured to provide 
information about the appropriate person or authority to which the complaint should be addressed.

This report first describes the functions of the VI and identifies the legislative basis for them. It then sets 
out the matters on which the VI is required to report.
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4 LEGISLATION

The VI Act received the Royal Assent on 29 November 2011 and came into operation on 1 July 2012. It 
was subsequently amended by the Victorian Inspectorate Amendment Act 2012, the Independent Broad-
based Anti-corruption Commission Amendment (Examinations) Act 2012, the Evidence Amendment 
(Journalist Privilege) Act 2012, the Integrity and Accountability Legislation Amendment Act 2012, the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 and the Integrity Legislation Amendment Act 2013.

The Victorian Inspectorate Regulations 2013 were made on 5 February 2013 and amended on 11 February 
2013. They prescribe certain matters for the purposes of the VI Act.

5 FUNCTIONS OF THE VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE IN RELATION TO THE IBAC

Paragraphs (a) – (f) of sub-section 11(2) of the VI Act give the VI functions in relation to the IBAC  
as follows:

(a) to monitor the compliance of the IBAC and IBAC personnel with the Independent  
 Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission Act 2011 (IBAC Act) and other laws;

(b) to oversee the performance by the IBAC of its functions under the Protected Disclosure Act 
 2012 (PD Act);

(c) to assess the effectiveness and appropriateness of the policies and procedures of the IBAC 
 which relate to the legality and propriety of IBAC’s activities;

(d) to receive complaints in accordance with this Act about the conduct of the IBAC and  
 IBAC personnel;

(e) to investigate and assess the conduct of the IBAC and IBAC personnel in the performance  
 or exercise or purported performance or purported exercise of their duties, functions and 
 powers;

(f) to monitor the interaction between the IBAC and other integrity bodies to ensure compliance 
 with relevant laws.

The VI has power under section 44 of the VI Act to investigate certain complaints made against the IBAC 
or IBAC personnel; under section 46 of the VI Act it may investigate certain conduct of the IBAC or IBAC 
personnel of its own motion. 

Section 78 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make recommendations to the IBAC in relation to any action 
that the VI considers should be taken. The IBAC is not required to comply with any such recommendation, 
but the VI may require the IBAC to give it a report stating whether or not it intends to take a recommended 
action and, if the IBAC does not intend to take that action, to state the reason for not taking it. Section 79 
of the VI Act gives the VI power to make a private recommendation to the IBAC that a disciplinary action or 
process be taken against any IBAC personnel other than the IBAC Commissioner.

Under sub-section 79(3) of the VI Act the VI may, if satisfied that any conduct of any IBAC officer which 
has been the subject of a complaint, investigation or other finding should be the subject of any further 
investigatory or enforcement action, make a recommendation to that effect to the Chief Commissioner 
of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the Victorian WorkCover 
Authority or any other person or body prescribed for the purposes of that subsection.
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Sub-section 91(1) of the VI Act requires the VI to report on the following matters relating to the IBAC: 

• details of the IBAC’s compliance with the VI Act and the IBAC Act

• details of the compliance by the IBAC with the PD Act during the financial year;

• details of the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the IBAC  
 under the VI Act;

• details of the extent to which action recommended by the VI to be taken by the IBAC  
 has been taken.

5.1 Compliance of IBAC with VI Act and IBAC Act 

VI officers have attended IBAC premises on a number of occasions for briefings and inspections relating 
to IBAC’s various functions. In particular VI officers have been briefed about and inspected IBAC’s 
complaints handling, intelligence, investigations and education and prevention sections.

This financial year IBAC has developed operational frameworks for the delivery of its oversight, 
investigative and public education and prevention roles and engaged with stakeholders including other 
integrity agencies.

In relation to complaints made to it about police personnel and complaints referred by it to Victoria 
Police for investigation, IBAC has, in cooperation with Victoria Police, created an interface with certain 
information Victoria Police databases and systems improving the efficiency of IBAC’s performance of its 
functions in relation to police personnel. 

5.2 Particular reports from IBAC to the VI

Section 43 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to give the VI copies of any confidentiality notice issued by it, 
and certain related documents. The VI received 108 copies of confidentiality notices under this provision 
during the reporting period.

A number of complaints were received by the VI in relation to the IBAC and IBAC personnel during the 
reporting period. In addition, 1 complaint about IBAC was disclosed during the reporting period by IBAC 
itself under section 71 of the IBAC Act. All complaints about IBAC and IBAC personnel are referred to 
below.

Section 122 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to report to the VI the issue of any witness summons, 
including the name of the person summoned and the reasons why the summons was issued. 147 reports 
were received by the VI pursuant to this provision during the reporting period; a small proportion of these 
related to summonses addressed to individuals in circumstances where a previous summons had been 
addressed to the individual but not proceeded with. 

During the reporting period an issue was noted with respect to the adequacy of the reports made by IBAC 
pursuant to section 122 of the IBAC Act. Some of the reports were considered by the VI to be insufficient 
in their description of the reasons why the summons was issued. This matter was raised by the VI in 
correspondence with IBAC and IBAC amended its procedures accordingly. 

Section 128 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to inform the VI of any direction made by the IBAC in 
relation to a specified Australian legal practitioner. The IBAC did not inform the VI of any such direction 
during the reporting period.

Section 134 of the IBAC Act requires the IBAC to give the VI a copy of the video recording and any 
transcript of a coercive examination. The VI received 44 notifications relating to examinations during the 
reporting period.
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Sections 142 and 154 of the IBAC Act both require the IBAC to report to the VI the issue of certain arrest 
warrants. The IBAC did not report the issue of any such warrant during the reporting period.

5.3 Comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports

Save as referred to above in relation to reports under section 122 of the IBAC Act, no issue arose concerning 
the comprehensiveness or adequacy of the reports. 

5.4 Complaints relating to the IBAC and IBAC personnel

During the reporting period the VI received 38 complaints and 21 enquiries regarding the IBAC or IBAC 
personnel. Upon receipt of each complaint or enquiry the VI assessed it for two purposes:

• First, to determine whether the VI had jurisdiction to investigate it

• Secondly, where the VI considered that it had jurisdiction to investigate the complaint,  
 to determine whether it warranted investigation.

The VI did not conduct a formal investigation of any of the complaints made about IBAC or IBAC 
personnel. In respect of 11 matters the VI requested information from IBAC, which was in every case 
provided, thus enabling the VI to assess the complaint on an informed basis. 

The complaints and enquiries received by the VI were all assessed as being not within the jurisdiction 
of the VI to investigate or as not meriting investigation. Where a matter was considered to be within 
jurisdiction but not meriting investigation, the reasons for not investigating varied but included such 
factors as the complaint lacking substance, the subject-matter of the complaint already having been fully 
investigated by another agency (including in some cases having been considered by a court) or being too 
old, or the subject-matter not being sufficiently serious to warrant investigation.

During the reporting period, the VI received 37 notifications from the Ombudsman under 
sub-section 16F(2) of the Ombudsman Act 1973 (as amended). This provision requires the Ombudsman 
to notify the VI of any complaint which appears to relate to the conduct of, among others, the IBAC, 
IBAC personnel or an Ombudsman officer. Except for two which related to an Ombudsman officer and 
one which related to both an IBAC officer and an Ombudsman officer, all such notifications received by 
the VI concerned the IBAC or IBAC personnel. In each of those cases the VI contacted the person who 
had complained to the Ombudsman and advised him or her of their right to make a complaint to the VI. 
Only some of the persons concerned made complaints, and the complaints referred to above about the 
IBAC and IBAC personnel include complaints made by persons who had previously been the subject of a 
notification by the Ombudsman under sub-section 16F(2). 

5.5 Compliance with recommendations

The VI made no recommendations to the IBAC during the reporting period. Accordingly no issue arose 
about IBAC’s compliance with recommendations. 

5.6 Compliance of IBAC with Protected Disclosures Act 2012 (PD Act)

The IBAC has numerous functions and powers under Part 8 of the Protected Disclosures Act 2012. 
The IBAC has incorporated into its complaint and notification management systems processes for the 
identification and management of protected disclosures and protected disclosure complaints. The IBAC 
has also published guidelines for the public in relation to protected disclosures and conducted training 
sessions within the public sector and the community sector. The IBAC participates in the Protected 
Disclosure Liaison Group, which is a group of stakeholders in the protected disclosures regime which 
includes not only the VI and the other integrity bodies with responsibilities under the PD Act, but the 
President of the Legislative Council and the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly. 
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6 FUNCTIONS IN RELATION TO THE PUBLIC INTEREST MONITOR (PIM)

Paragraphs (g) and (h) of sub-section 11(2) of the VI Act give the VI functions in relation to the PIM:

(g) to inspect and audit relevant records kept under the Public Interest Monitor Act 2011 by 
 the Public Interest Monitors for the purpose of monitoring compliance with the prescribed 
 obligations;

(h) to report to the Minister and the Parliament on the results of the performance of its function 
 under paragraph (g);

In addition, sub-section 13(2) of the VI Act requires the VI to inspect relevant records of each Public 
Interest Monitor at least once each financial year in order to ascertain the extent to which each of the 
Public Interest Monitors has complied with the “prescribed obligations”. “Prescribed obligations” are 
defined in sub-section 3(1) of the VI Act in relation to the PIM as requirements prescribed by the Public 
Interest Monitor Regulations 2013 relating to the transmission, disposal and storage of documents or 
information that a Public Interest Monitor receives in performing his or her functions.

Paragraph 91(1)(p) of the VI Act requires the annual report of the VI to include a statement of the results  
of inspections by the VI of the relevant records of Public Interest Monitors.

6.1 Compliance

The VI conducted one inspection and audit of the records kept by the PIM during the reporting period. 

The PIM was found to be generally compliant with the requirements of the legislation. Several minor 
irregularities were identified which were subsequently discussed with the PIM, and the PIM has adjusted 
the relevant standard operating procedures to ensure that they do not recur. 

7 FUNCTIONS OF VI IN RELATION TO THE CHIEF EXAMINER AND EXAMINERS

The VI has functions in relation to the Chief Examiner and Examiners under the VI Act and also under  
the Major Crimes (Investigative Powers) Act 2004 (the MCIP Act). 

7.1 Functions under the VI Act

Paragraphs (i) – (k) of sub-section 11(2) of the VI Act set out functions of the VI in relation to the Chief 
Examiner’s office as follows:

(i) to receive complaints in accordance with this Act about the conduct of the Chief Examiner  
 or any Examiner;

(j) to investigate and assess, in accordance with this Act, the conduct of the Chief Examiner  
 or any Examiner;

(k) to report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the performance of its duties  
 and functions.

7.2 Functions under the MCIP Act

So far as it relates to the Chief Examiner, section 51 of the MCIP Act provides that the functions of the VI 
under Part 5 of that Act are – 

(a) to monitor compliance with this Act by the Chief Examiner and Examiners; and

(b) to assess the relevance of any questions asked by the Chief Examiner or an Examiner during 
 an examination to the investigation of the organised crime offence in relation to which the 
 coercive powers order was made; and
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(c) to assess the relevance of any requirement made by the Chief Examiner or an Examiner for  
 a person to produce a document or other thing to the investigation of the organised crime 
 offence in relation to which the coercive powers order was made; and

(d) to assess the effectiveness and appropriateness of the policies and procedures of the Chief 
 Examiner which relate to the legality and propriety of the Chief Examiner’s activities; and

(e) to formulate recommendations and make reports as a result of performing functions under 
 paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d). 

The functions of the VI need to be understood in the context of the powers conferred on the Chief 
Examiner. A full discussion is not necessary here, but it is appropriate to make the following brief 
comments.

Central to the powers is a Coercive Powers Order (CPO) which is made at the discretion of the Supreme 
Court. Section 4 of the MCIP Act provides that a CPO authorises the use of such powers in accordance 
with and for the purposes of investigating an organised crime offence (as defined). 

Section 5 of the MCIP Act provides that a member of the police force may apply to the Supreme Court for 
a CPO if the member suspects on reasonable grounds that an organised crime offence has been, is being 
or is likely to be committed.

It is further provided that where a CPO is in force, the Supreme Court or the Chief Examiner may, on 
application, issue a witness summons requiring, for example, the attendance of a named person before 
the Chief Examiner to give evidence and/or to produce documents or other things. The Chief Examiner 
may issue a witness summons upon application by a member of the police force or on his or her own 
motion.

Part 4 of the MCIP Act makes detailed provision regarding the conduct of a coercive examination into  
an organised crime offence.

7.3 Obligations of Chief Examiner to the VI

The MCIP Act imposes a number of obligations on the Chief Examiner vis-à-vis the VI including the 
following:

• The Chief Examiner must report to the VI the issue of witness summonses and making  
 of custody orders (section 52). 

• The Chief Examiner must report matters to the VI relating to the coercive questioning  
 of a person (section 53 and regulation 10 of the Major Crime (Investigative Powers) 
 Regulations 2005). 

7.4 Powers of the VI

The MCIP Act gives the VI various powers in relation to the Chief Examiner as follows:

• Section 57 empowers the VI to make recommendations to the Chief Examiner.

• Section 58 requires the Chief Examiner to provide any reasonable assistance to the VI.

• Section 59 provides the VI with powers of entry and access to the offices and records of the 
 Chief Examiner.

• Section 60 authorises the VI to require the Chief Examiner to answer questions, provide 
 information and/or produce any document or other thing.
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The VI has power under section 44 of the VI Act to investigate certain complaints made against the Chief 
Examiner or an Examiner; under section 46 of the VI Act it may investigate certain conduct of the Chief 
Examiner or any Examiner of its own motion. 

Section 84 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make recommendations to the Chief Examiner in relation to 
any action that the VI considers should be taken. The Chief Examiner is not required to comply with any 
such recommendation, but the VI may require the Chief Examiner to give it a report stating whether or not 
he or she intends to take a recommended action and, if the Chief Examiner does not intend to take that 
action, to state the reason for not taking it. 

Under section 85 of the VI Act the VI may, if satisfied that any conduct of the Chief Examiner or any 
Examiner which has been the subject of a complaint, investigation or other finding should be the subject 
of any further investigatory or enforcement action, make a recommendation to that effect to the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the IBAC, 
the Victorian WorkCover Authority or any other person or body prescribed for the purposes of that 
subsection.

7.5 Reporting requirements relating to Chief Examiner and Examiners

Sub-section 91(1) of the VI Act requires the VI to report on the following matters in relation to the Chief 
Examiner:

• details of the compliance with this Act by the Chief Examiner or an Examiner;

• details of the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the  
 Chief Examiner under this Act;

• details of the extent to which action recommended by the VI to be taken by the Chief Examiner 
 has been taken.

In addition, section 61 of the MCIP Act provides that as soon as practicable after the end of each financial 
year, the VI must cause a report to be laid before each House of Parliament in relation to the performance 
of the VI’s functions under Part 5 of the Act. 

Briefly the report must include details of the following:

• compliance with the Act during the financial year by the Chief Examiner, Examiners,  
 Chief Commissioner and other members of the police force

• the extent to which questions asked of persons summoned and requirements to produce 
 documents or other things under a summons were relevant to the investigation of the 
 organised crime offence in relation to which the relevant CPO was made

• the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the Chief Examiner  
 or the Chief Commissioner during the financial year

• the extent to which the Chief Examiner or the Chief Commissioner has taken action 
 recommended by the VI.

The report must not contain any information identifying or likely to identify a person who has been 
examined under the Act or the nature of any ongoing investigation of an organised crime offence. 
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7.6 Compliance – section 52 and section 53 reports 

In the full-year period from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014, 36 reports were received under section 52 of the 
MCIP Act by the VI, comprising 33 reports of the issue of a witness summons and 3 reports of the issue 
of a custody order under section 18 of that Act. In addition, the Chief Examiner, without being under a 
legislative obligation to do so, notified the VI that 3 witness summonses had been issued by the Supreme 
Court of Victoria. Forty reports were received under section 53 in relation to examinations held within the 
reporting period. 

In compliance with the MCIP Act, all section 52 reports received by the VI from the Chief Examiner during 
the 2013 – 2014 year were delivered within three days after the issue of the summons or the making of 
the custody order. Similarly, all section 53 reports were provided to the VI as soon as practicable after 
an examination had been completed and each contained the information required under the Act and 
prescribed by the Regulations.

7.7 Complaints: Section 54

Section 54 of the MCIP Act relates to complaints about the Chief Examiner and Examiners. The VI 
received no such complaints during the reporting period. 

7.8 Comprehensiveness and Adequacy of Reports

The VI is satisfied that the Chief Examiner was fully compliant with sections 52 and 53 of the MCIP Act 
and that the reports were sufficiently comprehensive and adequate to enable a proper assessment to be 
made.

7.9 Report – Coercive Powers Orders, custody orders, summonses and compulsory examinations

During the reporting period the Chief Examiner notified the VI of the making of 3 CPOs and the extension 
of one CPO by the Supreme Court.

A person held in prison or a police gaol can be compelled under section 18 of the MCIP Act to attend 
before the Chief Examiner. An order under section 18 is known as a custody order. An application for a 
custody order essentially follows the same procedure as an application to the Supreme Court or the Chief 
Examiner for the issue of a summons; although unlike a summons, a section 18 order can only require a 
person to attend for the purpose of giving evidence and not to produce documents or other things. 

The Chief Examiner reported to the VI that 36 persons in all were ordered to be examined during the 
reporting period. This figure comprised 33 witnesses who had been summoned to attend and 3 witnesses 
who were made the subject of a custody order. 

During the reporting period a total of 40 witnesses were compulsorily examined by the Chief Examiner or 
an Examiner. All were civilians (non-police) and 26 of them were legally represented. 

In all cases the Chief Examiner or Examiner explained to the witness his or her right to receive legal 
advice and to be legally represented.

7.10 Relevance 

The VI is satisfied that the overall questioning of persons and the requirement to produce documents 
or other things were relevant and appropriate to the purpose of the investigation concerning which the 
questions were asked and the requests made. 
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7.11 Report – Matters arising from review of material provided by Chief Examiner

During the period under report, while no issues were identified by the VI as arising out of the coercive 
examinations conducted, the VI did suggest to the Chief Examiner and the Examiner that certain changes 
might be made to a document entitled ‘Notice of Important Information’ which is given to persons 
who are to be examined. The purpose of the document is to highlight and explain some of the more 
important rights and obligations of those required to attend a coercive examination. The positive and 
timely response given to the VI’s proposal by the Chief Examiner reflects the care which both he and the 
Examiner take in the exercise of these extraordinary powers.

7.12 Complaints: Section 54

The VI received no complaints concerning the Chief Examiner or any Examiner pursuant to s.54  
of the MCIP Act.

7.13  Recommendations Made By the Special Investigations Monitor to Chief Examiner

The VI made no recommendations to the Chief Examiner in this reporting period.

7.14 Generally

Excellent cooperation continued to be provided by the Chief Examiner and his staff, which was greatly 
appreciated by the VI and its staff. 

8 FUNCTIONS OF VI IN RELATION TO VICTORIA POLICE AND THE CHIEF COMMISSIONER

8.1 Monitoring compliance

Section 51(a) of the MCIP Act gives the VI the function of monitoring compliance with that Act by the  
Chief Commissioner and other members of the police force. Under section 66 of the  MCIP Act the  
Chief Commissioner must—

(a) ensure that records are kept as prescribed on any prescribed matter; and

(b) ensure that a register is kept as prescribed of the prescribed matters in relation to all 
 documents or other things retained under section 47 and that the register is available  
 for inspection by the Victorian Inspectorate; and

(c) report in writing to the Victorian Inspectorate every 6 months on such matters as are 
 prescribed and on any other matter that the Victorian Inspectorate considers appropriate  
 for inclusion in the report.

8.1 Powers of the VI

The MCIP Act gives the VI certain powers in relation to the Chief Commissioner of Police.

• Section 57 empowers the VI to make recommendations to the Chief Commissioner.

• Section 58 requires the Chief Commissioner to provide any reasonable assistance to the VI.

• Section 59 provides the VI with powers of entry and access to the offices and records  
 of Victoria Police.

• Section 60 authorises the VI to require a member of the police force to answer questions, 
 provide information and/or produce any document or other thing.
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8.2 Reporting requirements of VI

Section 61 of the MCIP Act provides that as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year, the VI 
must cause a report to be laid before each House of Parliament in relation to the performance of the VI’s 
functions under Part 5 of the Act. 

Briefly the report must include details of the following:

• compliance with the Act during the financial year by the Chief Commissioner and other 
 members of the police force

• the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the Chief Commissioner 
 during the financial year

• the extent to which the Chief Commissioner has taken action recommended by the VI.

The report must not contain any information identifying or likely to identify a person who has been 
examined under the Act or the nature of any ongoing investigation of an organised crime offence. 

8.3 Compliance

In the current reporting period, the Chief Commissioner provided the VI with 2 written reports under 
section 66 of the MCIP Act covering the periods 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 to 30 
June 2014 respectively. The VI is satisfied that the reports were sufficiently comprehensive and adequate 
and contained all the matters required under the Act and the Regulations. 

The VI was satisfied that the Chief Commissioner complied with the provisions of the MCIP Act during the 
period the subject of this report.

8.4 Cooperation

Full cooperation from the Chief Commissioner and police members continued during the reporting year 
and was greatly appreciated by the VI and its staff.

9 FUNCTIONS OF VI IN RELATION TO THE VICTORIAN AUDITOR-GENERAL’S OFFICE (VAGO)

Sub-section 11(3) of the VI Act gives the VI certain functions in relation to the VAGO as follows:

(a) to monitor –

 (i) the exercise of coercive powers by VAGO officers; and

 (ii) compliance by VAGO officers with sections 11(1A), 11A, 11B, 11C, 11D, 11E, 11F and 20(1) 
  and (3) of the Audit Act 1994;

(b) to receive complaints in accordance with this Act about the conduct of VAGO officers;

(c) to investigate and assess, in accordance with this Act, the conduct of VAGO officers;

(d) to report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the performance of its functions 
 under paragraphs (a) to (c).

The VI has power under section 44 of the VI Act to investigate certain complaints made against a VAGO 
officer; under section 46 of the VI Act it may investigate conduct of a VAGO officer of its own motion. 
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Section 80 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make recommendations to the Auditor-General in relation 
to any action that the VI considers should be taken. The Auditor-General is not required to comply with 
any such recommendation, but the VI may require the Auditor-General to give it a report stating whether 
or not he or she intends to take a recommended action and, if the Auditor-General does not intend to 
take that action, to state the reason for not taking it. Section 81 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make a 
private recommendation to the Auditor-General that a disciplinary action or process be taken against any 
VAGO officer other than the Auditor-General.

Under sub-section 81(3) of the VI Act the VI may, if satisfied that any conduct of any VAGO officer which 
has been the subject of a complaint, investigation or other finding should be the subject of any further 
investigatory or enforcement action, make a recommendation to that effect to the Chief Commissioner 
of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the IBAC, the Victorian 
WorkCover Authority or any other person or body prescribed for the purposes of that subsection.

Sub-section 91(1) of the VI Act requires the annual report of the VI to contain the following matters in 
relation to the VAGO:

• details of the results of the VI’s monitoring of—

 (i) the exercise of coercive powers by VAGO officers; and

 (ii) compliance by VAGO officers with sections 11(1A), 11A, 11B, 11C, 11D, 11E, 11F and 20(1) 
  and (3) of the Audit Act;

• details of the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the  
 Auditor-General under the VI Act;

• details of the extent to which action recommended by the VI to be taken by the  
 Auditor-General has been taken.

9.1 Compliance

No coercive powers were exercised by the VAGO during the reporting period. No reports were made to 
the VI by the Auditor-General and the VI made no recommendations to the Auditor-General. Accordingly 
no issue of compliance arose during the reporting period.

10 FUNCTIONS OF VI IN RELATION TO THE OMBUDSMAN AND OMBUDSMAN OFFICERS 

Sub-section 11(4) of the VI Act gives the VI certain specific functions and powers in relation to 
Ombudsman officers (which term includes the Ombudsman and any Acting Ombudsman), as 
follows:

(a) to monitor –

 (i) the exercise of coercive powers by Ombudsman officers; and

 (ii) compliance by Ombudsman officers with procedural fairness requirements in the 
  performance of functions under the Ombudsman Act or any other Act, including in the 
  conduct of enquiries and investigations and the making of reports and recommendations 
  under the Ombudsman Act or any other Act;

(b) to receive complaints in accordance with this Act about the conduct of Ombudsman officers;

(c) to investigate and assess in accordance with this Act the conduct of Ombudsman officers;

(d) to report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the performance of its functions 
 under paragraphs (a) to (c).
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The VI has power under section 44 of the VI Act to investigate certain complaints made against an 
Ombudsman officer; under section 46 of the VI Act it may investigate conduct of an Ombudsman officer  
of its own motion. 

Section 82 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make recommendations to the Ombudsman in relation to 
any action that the VI considers should be taken. The Ombudsman is not required to comply with any 
such recommendation, but the VI may require the Ombudsman to give it a report stating whether or 
not he or she intends to take a recommended action and, if the Ombudsman does not intend to take 
that action, to state the reason for not taking it. Section 83 of the VI Act gives the VI power to make a 
private recommendation to the Ombudsman that a disciplinary action or process be taken against any 
Ombudsman officer other than the Ombudsman.

Under sub-section 83(3) of the VI Act the VI may, if satisfied that any conduct of any Ombudsman 
officer which has been the subject of a complaint, investigation or other finding should be the subject 
of any further investigatory or enforcement action, make a recommendation to that effect to the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the IBAC, 
the Victorian WorkCover Authority or any other person or body prescribed for the purposes of that 
subsection.

Section 16F of the Ombudsman Act requires the Ombudsman to notify the VI of any complaint or referred 
matter that appears to involve conduct of the IBAC or IBAC personnel, or an Ombudsman officer, a VAGO 
officer, the Chief Examiner or an Examiner. The Ombudsman must also notify the VI of any matter relating 
to the conduct of such persons or bodies of which the Ombudsman becomes aware, if the Ombudsman 
considers that the matter is relevant to the performance of the functions of the VI.

Section 18A of the Ombudsman Act requires the Ombudsman to report to the VI the issue of any witness 
summons. Section 18F requires the Ombudsman to provide the VI with copies of audio or video recordings 
of persons who attended before an Ombudsman officer for a compulsory appearance.

Section 26E of the Ombudsman Act requires the Ombudsman to provide the VI with copies of any 
confidentiality notice issued by the Ombudsman and certain other documents relating to confidentiality 
notices.

10.1 Reporting requirements relating to the Ombudsman

Under sub-section 91(1) of the VI Act the annual report of the VI is required to include –

• details of the results of the Victorian Inspectorate’s monitoring of—

 (i) the exercise of coercive powers by Ombudsman officers; and

 (ii) compliance by Ombudsman officers with procedural fairness requirements in the 
  performance of functions under the Ombudsman Act or any other Act, including in the 
  conduct of enquiries and investigations and the making of reports and recommendations 
  under the Ombudsman Act or any other Act;

• details of the comprehensiveness and adequacy of reports made to the VI by the Ombudsman 
 under this Act;

• details of the extent to which action recommended by the VI to be taken by the Ombudsman 
 has been taken.
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10.2 Compliance

During the reporting period, 37 notifications were received by the VI from the Ombudsman pursuant to 
sub-section 16F(2) of the Ombudsman Act. 34 of them concerned IBAC or IBAC personnel (referred to 
above in the section of this Report relating to IBAC); 3 of them concerned Ombudsman officers (including 
one that also concerned IBAC personnel). Following the receipt of each such notification, the VI wrote to 
the person who had complained to the Ombudsman and invited him or her to make a complaint to the VI. 
In some cases the VI had already been in contact with that person and previously written to them.

During the reporting period the Ombudsman reported the issue of 18 summonses to the VI.

During the reporting period the Ombudsman reported the issue of 12 confidentiality notices to the VI, and 
the withdrawal of 4 confidentiality notices.

Pursuant to section 18F(7) of the Ombudsman Act the Ombudsman provided the VI with audio recordings 
of 167 persons who were compulsorily examined by an Ombudsman officer. 

The VI considers that the reports made to it by the Ombudsman were comprehensive and adequate.

10.3 Monitoring of Ombudsman 

During the reporting period the VI identified an issue relating to the information available to persons 
who were examined under oath by an Ombudsman officer. The issue related to the manner in which 
the powers exercised were described. The issue was raised by the VI in correspondence with the 
Ombudsman, and the VI was informed that the information available to examinees was being revised.  
The revision is not complete at the time of preparing this report; when it is, the VI will again consider  
the situation. 

10.4 Complaints

During the reporting period the VI received 17 complaints and 13 enquiries relating to the Ombudsman. 
The VI adopted the same procedure in relation to complaints about the Ombudsman as it did in relation 
to complaints about the IBAC. That is to say, it assessed each complaint in order to decide whether it had 
jurisdiction to deal with it, and, if so, whether it merited investigation.

The VI did not conduct a formal investigation of any of the complaints made about the Ombudsman.  
In respect of 7 complaints the VI requested information from the Ombudsman which was in each  
case provided and enabled the VI to assess the complaint on an informed basis. The complaints  
it received were all assessed as being not within the jurisdiction of the VI to investigate or as not  
meriting investigation.

11 FUNCTIONS OF VI WITH RESPECT TO DIRECTOR, POLICE INTEGRITY AND STAFF OF THE 
 OFFICE OF POLICE INTEGRITY 

Prior to the Commencement Date there existed under the Police Integrity Act a Director, Police Integrity 
(DPI) and an Office of Police Integrity (OPI) of which the DPI was the head. The Special Investigations 
Monitor (SIM) had important functions in respect of the OPI and the DPI. Both the DPI and the OPI were 
abolished with effect from the Commencement Date, but in certain circumstances complaints about the 
OPI and the DPI were able to be made to the VI following their abolition. 

There were 4 complaints received by the VI in the period up to 30 June 2013 which were reported on  
in the first annual report of the VI. No complaints and 2 enquiries were received during the current 
reporting period.
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12 OVERSIGHT FUNCTIONS OF VI IN RELATION TO THE USE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
 INTERCEPTIONS, SURVEILLANCE DEVICES AND CONTROLLED OPERATIONS 

The responsibilities of the VI in respect of the above matters include the inspection of records and 
monitoring legislative compliance.

12.1 Telecommunications interceptions

Eligible authorities of the State of Victoria, declared by the Commonwealth Attorney-General under 
section 34 of the Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979 (TIA Act) to be agencies for the 
purpose of that Act, are permitted to intercept telecommunications under the authority of a warrant and 
to make certain uses of lawfully intercepted information. As a condition of the Commonwealth Minister 
making a declaration at the request of a State Premier, a State must have legislation in place which 
addresses the accountability of the State agencies through record keeping requirements and inspection 
oversight. In this regard, section 35 of the TIA Act requires the State to have certain legislation in force. 
In Victoria the relevant legislative provisions are found in the Telecommunications (Interception) (State 
Provisions) Act 1988 (State TI Act).

The VI is required under the State TI Act to inspect the records of Victoria Police and the IBAC at 
least twice each year and to report annually after 1 July to the Police Minister and the Minister (being 
the Minister responsible for the IBAC, currently the State Attorney-General) on the result of these 
inspections. The VI may also report at any other time and must do so if asked by the Minister or Attorney-
General. In reporting under the provisions of the State TI Act, the VI may include a report on any matter 
where, as a result of the inspection of agency records, the VI is of the opinion that a member of the staff of 
an agency has contravened a provision of the TIA Act or the requirement under the State TI Act to provide 
certain documents to the Minister. 

Reports under the State TI Act are not publicly available and are provided only to agency chief officers, 
the Police Minister and the State Attorney-General who must then forward a copy to the Commonwealth 
Attorney-General (as the Minister responsible for the TIA Act). 

12.2 Surveillance devices

The VI has responsibility under the State Surveillance Devices Act 1999 (SD Act) to inspect those 
Victorian agencies that are authorised to use surveillance devices. The SD Act is based on national model 
surveillance device legislation cooperatively developed by States, Territories and the Commonwealth 
and it provides, amongst other things, for cross-border recognition of warrants authorising the use of 
surveillance devices and the controlled communication and use of protected information obtained under 
the authority of a surveillance device warrant. With effect from the Commencement Date, the VI took over 
that responsibility.

During the reporting period the legislation authorised three Victorian agencies to use surveillance 
devices. The SD Act required the VI to inspect the records of those agencies from time to time and to 
report the results of inspections to each House of the Parliament as soon as practicable after 1 January 
and 1 July of each year. A copy of the report was required to be provided to the Minister (the Attorney-
General) at the time it is transmitted to the Parliament. The three authorised agencies inspected and 
reported on by the VI are:

• Victoria Police

• IBAC

• Department of Environment and Primary Industries (formerly the Department of Primary 
 Industries and the Department of Sustainability and Environment).
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During the reporting period the VI conducted two inspections of each agency as required. The results of 

both inspections were reported and tabled in Parliament and are publicly available on the VI’s website. 

It is noted that with effect from 1 July 2014, the Game Management Authority established under the 
Game Management Authority Act 2014 has also been an authorised agency. 

12.3 Controlled operations

State legislation to permit and regulate controlled operations was enacted in 2004. It is based on 
national model legislation developed by a Joint Working Group established by the Standing Committee of 
Attorneys-General and the Australasian Police Ministers Council (now the Ministerial Council for Police 
and Emergency Management). This legislative initiative resulted from a summit on terrorism and multi-
jurisdictional crime held in April 2002, which was attended by the Prime Minister and the leaders of the 
States and Territories. Jurisdictional issues relating to Commonwealth agencies delayed commencement 
of the legislation but, following amendment, it was proclaimed and came into effect (with the exception of 
section 52) on 2 November 2008.

The Crimes (Controlled Operations) Act 2004 (CO Act) established controlled operations provisions for 
Victoria Police. It also inserted new (but more limited) provisions for controlled operations conducted 
under the Fisheries Act 1995 and the Wildlife Act 1975 for use by law enforcement groups within the 
Department of Environment and Primary Industries (formerly the Department of Primary Industries  
and the Department of Sustainability and Environment). Some earlier indemnity provisions covering  
law enforcement officers across the four agencies were repealed.

A controlled operation is a covert investigation method used by law enforcement agencies. It involves 
a participant (usually a law enforcement officer, but sometimes a civilian) working ‘under cover’ 
and associating with people suspected of criminal activity in order to obtain evidence to support the 
prosecution of an offence. For this purpose and subject to strict controls and guidelines, the participant 
may need to engage in conduct which would otherwise be unlawful. Under the CO Act a controlled 
operations authority may be granted which indemnifies the undercover participant against liability for 
such unlawful conduct. 

In addition to receiving bi-annual reports from the chief officer of each agency, the CO Act requires the 
VI to inspect the records and documents of the authorised law enforcement agencies and to report to 
the relevant Ministers and to the Parliament on the work, activities and level of statutory compliance 
achieved by each.

In the year under report, the VI undertook one full inspection of agency records pursuant to the CO Act, 
Fisheries Act and Wildlife Act and received reports from the chief officer of each of the four agencies.  
The reports prepared by the VI have been tabled in the Parliament. 

In addition to its entitlement to seek a surveillance devices warrant, the Game Management Authority  
has (since 1 July 2014) also been authorised to apply for a controlled operations authority.

12.4 Cooperation and compliance reporting

The VI is pleased to again report that all agencies inspected were fully cooperative and provided all 
possible assistance to the VI in the performance of its functions.
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13 PROTECTED DISCLOSURES

The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (the PD Act) came into force on the Commencement Date replacing 
the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (the WP Act). The purposes of the PD Act as set out in section 1 
are –

(a) to encourage and facilitate disclosures of—

 (i) improper conduct by public officers, public bodies and other persons; and

 (ii) detrimental action taken in reprisal for a person making a disclosure under this Act; and

(b) to provide protection for—

 (i) persons who make those disclosures; and

 (ii) persons who may suffer detrimental action in reprisal for those disclosures; and

(c) to provide for the confidentiality of the content of those disclosures and the identity of persons 
 who make those disclosures.

There are substantial differences between the two acts, but the purposes of the WP Act were very similar. 

A central concept under the PD Act is “improper conduct”. That term is given a lengthy definition 
in section 4 of the PD Act. A similar concept was central to the WP Act, but there were significant 
differences. 

13.1 Protected Disclosure Act disclosures

Under the PD Act, a natural person may disclose information that tends to show, or that the person 
believes on reasonable grounds tends to show, that a person, public officer or public body is engaging 
or has engaged or proposes to engage in improper conduct or detrimental action. The disclosure may 
be made to the IBAC or to certain other bodies or persons, including, in certain circumstances, the VI. 
Whether the disclosure is made to the IBAC or to another person or body (other than the VI), it is the IBAC 
which must determine whether it was made in the manner prescribed by the PD Act. 

Where a disclosure is made about the Chief Examiner or an Examiner, an Ombudsman officer or a VAGO 
officer, it must be made either to the IBAC or to the VI. Where a disclosure relates to the IBAC or an IBAC 
Officer, it must be made to the VI which must determine whether it is a protected disclosure. 

Where a disclosure is determined to be a protected disclosure, the person making it is given certain 
statutory protections and it must be investigated. Where the determination is made by the IBAC it must be 
dealt with under the IBAC Act; where the determination is made by the VI it must be dealt with under the 
VI Act. 

Section 58 of the PD Act provides that an entity that may receive disclosures must establish procedures –

(a) to facilitate the making of those disclosures; and

(b) for the handling of those disclosures and, where appropriate, the notification of those 
 disclosures to the IBAC.
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Section 59 sets out certain requirements regarding those procedures. Section 62 empowers the VI to 
review the procedures established by the IBAC or the Ombudsman under section 58 to ensure that they 
are consistent with the PD Act, the regulations and guidelines issued by the IBAC. The VI may also review 
the implementation of those procedures by the IBAC or the Ombudsman. After such a review the VI may 
make recommendations to the IBAC or the Ombudsman.

Sub-section 68(1) of the PD Act provides that the VI must include in its annual report –

(a) information about how to access the procedures established by the VI under Part 9  
  of that Act;

(b) for the financial year –

 (i) the number and types of assessable disclosures made to the VI;

 (ii) the number and types of assessments made by the VI under section 31 to determine 
   whether a disclosure is a protected disclosure complaint;

 (iii) the number and types of disclosures notified to the IBAC under section 21(2);

 (iv) the number and types of protected disclosure complaints referred to the VI  
   by the IBAC;

 (v) the number and types of protected disclosure complaints investigated by the VI;

(c) any recommendations made by the VI under section 63 during the financial year;

(d) for each of those recommendations, the action taken by the relevant body in relation  
 to the recommendation;

(e) the number of applications for an injunction made by the VI under section 50 during  
 the financial year.

13.2 VI Procedures

The VI has established procedures under Part 9 of the PD Act.

13.3 VI Report regarding disclosures

No assessable disclosures were made to the VI during the reporting period. Accordingly no assessments 
were made, no disclosures were made to the IBAC, no protected disclosure complaints were investigated 
by the VI, no recommendations were made by the VI and no applications were made by the VI for 
injunctions.

13.4 Protected disclosure complaints referred to the VI by IBAC

One protected disclosure complaint was referred to the VI by IBAC during the reporting period. This 
complaint concerned IBAC and IBAC personnel, and is one of the complaints referred to above in relation 
to complaints about IBAC.
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14 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 1982 

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) allows the public a right of access to certain documents 
held by the VI. A person may make such a request to the VI, but section 102 of the VI Act excludes certain 
classes of documents in the possession of the VI from the FOI Act. Specifically, the FOI Act does not apply 
to a document that is in the possession of a “relevant person or body” to the extent to which the document 
discloses information that relates to-

• a complaint made under the Victorian Inspectorate Act; or

• an inspection made under the Victorian Inspectorate Act; or

• an investigation conducted under the Victorian Inspectorate Act; or

• a recommendation made by the Victorian Inspectorate under the  
 Victorian Inspectorate Act: or

• a report, including a progress report, on an investigation conducted under  
 the Victorian Inspectorate Act

A relevant person or body for the purposes of section 102 means the VI and a VI officer, the IBAC, the 
Ombudsman and an officer of the Ombudsman, the Chief Commissioner of Police, the PIM, the Victorian 
Work Cover Authority, the Director of Public Prosecutions, the Australian Federal Police, the Chief 
Examiner and any Examiner, an officer of the Victorian Auditor General and any other prescribed person.

In the period 30 June 2013 to 1 July 2014 the VI received no requests for access to documents under the 
FOI Act. 

14.1 Information published pursuant to Part II of the Freedom of Information Act 1982

Part II of the FOI Act requires the VI to publish in its annual report certain statements. Pursuant to that 
requirement the VI publishes the following statements. 

14.2 Particulars of the organisation and functions of the VI (FOI Act section 7(1)(a)(i))

Those matters are outlined and discussed above under the headings that apply to the bodies overseen 
or monitored by the VI. Further information can also be found on the VI website at http://www.
vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au.
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14.3 Categories of documents maintained in the possession of the VI (FOI Act section 7(1)(a)(ii))

The VI creates and maintains a large number of documents and records in the course of its work, 
including the following:

• Policies, procedures and standards

• Compliance Reports

• Annual Reports

• Operational Registers

• Correspondence Registers

• Service and facilities records

• Physical Security Records

• Occupational Health and Safety Records

• Compliance Records

• Operational Records

• Correspondence

• Meeting records

• Financial records

• Audiovisual records

14.4 Material prepared by the VI under Part II of the VI Act for publication or inspection by members 
 of the public (FOI Act section 7(1)(a)(iii))

The VI website has links to a range of publications including:

• Annual Reports of the VI and the Special Investigations Monitor

• Surveillance Devices Reports 

• Notes for Complainants and a Complaints Form

Apart from reports and other documents available on the VI website, the VI publishes no such material.

14.5 Literature available by way of subscription services or free mailing lists (FOI Act  
 section 7(1)(a)(iv))

No such literature is made available by the VI.
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14.6 Procedure to be followed when requesting access to a document (FOI Act section 7(1)(a)(v))

An FOI request must be in writing in the form of a letter, an email or a completed FOI application form. 
The request should set out clearly the documents or information sought from the VI with enough detail to 
enable the VI to identify the relevant material and must include an application fee of $26.50.

The application fee will be waived if the applicant provides evidence that he or she receives social security 
benefits, for example, a current health benefits or social security benefits card.

The Victorian Government’s Freedom of Information website contains further information about how to 
access documents or information under the FOI Act. The website is at –

http://www.foi.vic.gov.au/home/how+to+apply/making+a+request/

As stated above, certain VI documents are exempt from applications under the FOI Act. If a requested 
document or requested information is not exempt, the request will be assessed by the VI in accordance 
with the FOI Act. 

14.7 Officer responsible for initial receipt of and action upon requests for access  
 (FOI Act section 7(1)(a)(vi)) 

A request to the VI for access under the FOI Act should be addressed to –

Victorian Inspectorate 
PO Box 617 Collins Street West 
Melbourne  Vic  8007

Telephone: 03 8614 3225 
Facsimile: 03 8614 3200

Email: info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

 
Members of the public may contact the Victorian Inspectorate switchboard  
between 9:30 am and 4:00 pm weekdays (excluding public holidays).

 Robin Brett QC
 Inspector
 Victorian Inspectorate
 Melbourne
 10 September 2014



28

FINANCIAL REPORTS

15 VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013-14

15.1 Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance & Administrative Officer’s Declaration

 
 
We certify that the attached financial statements for the Victorian Inspectorate have 
been prepared in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management 
Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards, 
including interpretations and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive 
operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement 
and accompanying notes presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 
30 June 2014 and financial position of the Victorian Inspectorate as at 30 June 2014.

At the time of signing, we am not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars included in the financial report to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial report for issue.

Neal Jedwab 
Acting Inspector 
Victorian Inspectorate 
Melbourne 
29 September 2014

Ingrid Klein 
Chief Finance & Accounting Officer 
 
Melbourne 
29 September 2014
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15.2 (VAGO) Independent Auditor’s Report
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15.2 (VAGO) Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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15.3 Comprehensive operating statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014 
$

2013 
$

Continuing Operations 
Income from transactions 
     Grant – Department of Justice

 
 
2

 
 

2,418,100 

 
 

821,600 

Total Income from transactions 2,418,100 821,600 

Expenses from transactions 
     Employee expenses (ii)

 
3a

 
1,435,818

 
608,284

     Supplies and Services (i) 3b 544,104 180,329

     Depreciation and Amortisation 3c 456,761 -

Total Expenses from transactions 2,436,684 788,613

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) (18,584) 32,987

Other economic flows included in net result 
     Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

 
4

 
2,141

 
1,680

Total other economic flows included in net result 4 2,141 1,680

Net Result from continuing operations (16,442) 34,677

Net Result (16,442) 34,677

Comprehensive result (16,442) 34,677

The above comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(i) The VI has a correction of an error, as outlined in note 5 which has required a restatement  

 of supplies and services, payables and accumulated surplus in 2013.

(ii) The 2013 comparison figures have been restated to comply with new Australian  

 accounting standards.
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15.4 Balance sheet as at 30 June 2014

Note 2014 
$

2013 
$

Assets 
Financial assets 
     Receivables

 
 
6

 
 

274,475

 
 

211,541 

Total financial assets 274,475  211,541 

Non-Financial Assets 
     Property, plant and equipment

 
7

 
3,121,349 

 
271,976 

Total Non-Financial assets 3,121,349 271,976 

Total assets 3,395,824 483,517 

Liabilities 
     Payables (ii) 
     Provisions (i) 
     Borrowings

 
8&9 
10 

11&12

 
29,413  

226,837  
29,088 

 
25,760  

151,114 
-

Total liabilities 285,338 176,874 

Net assets 3,110,486 306,643 

Equity 
     Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (i) (ii) 
     Contributed Capital

 
18,224 

3,092,261 

 
34,667 

271,976 

Net worth 3,110,486 306,643 

Commitments for expenditure 13 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 14

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
(i) The 2013 comparative figures have been restated to comply with the new Australian  
 accounting standards. 
(ii) The VI has a correction of an error, as outlined in note 5 which has required a restatement  
 of supplies and services, payables and accumulated surplus in 2013.
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15.5 Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 30 June 2014

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$ 

Contributed 
Captial 

$ 

 
Total 

$

Balance at 1 July 2012 
Net result for the year (i) (ii) 
Capital appropriation

 
34,667  

- 

- 
-  

271,976 

 - 
34,667  

271,976 

Balance at 30 June 2013 34,667 271,976 306,643 

Net result for the year 
Capital appropriation

(16,442)  
2,820,285 

(16,442) 
2,820,285 

Balance at 30 June 2014 18,224 3,092,261 3,110,486 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
(i) The 2013 comparative figures have been restated to comply with the new Australian  
 accounting standards. 
(ii) The VI has a correction of an error, as outlined in note 5 which has required a restatement  
 of supplies and services, payables and accumulated surplus in 2013.

 
15.6 Cash flow statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014 
$

2013 
$

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts 
Receipts from Government

 
 

2,355,166 

 
 

610,059 

Total Receipts 2,355,166  610,059 

Payments 
Payments to suppliers 
Payments to employees

 
(540,278) 

(1,357,954)

 
(154,569) 
(455,490)

Total Payments (1,898,231) (610,059)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 16 b 456,935 -

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchases of non-financial assets

 
(3,273,174)

 
(271,976)

Net cashflow from/(used in) investing activities (3,273,174) (271,976)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Contribution by government provided for capital expenditure 
Repayment of finance lease

 
2,820,285 

(4,046)

 
271,976  

Net cashflow from/(used in) financing activities 2,816,239 271,976 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

 
 

16 a

 
- 
-

- 
- 
-

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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16 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

16.1 Note 1.  Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements 
for the Victorian Inspectorate (the Inspectorate) for the year ended 30 June 2014. The purpose of 
the report is to provide users with information about the Inspectorate’s stewardship of resources 
entrusted to it.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), 
which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In 
particular, they are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of the AASB 1049 
Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting 
financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the 
substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms and 
style conventions can be found in Note 21.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Inspector on 29 September 
2014.

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by 
management in the application of AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements 
and estimates relate to: 

• the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment, (refer to Note 1(k)) and;

• superannuation expense (refer to Note 1(g).

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, and prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention except for:

• non financial physical assets which, subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued 
 amount being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated 
 depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are made with sufficient 
 regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair value;
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• derivative financial instruments, managed investment schemes, certain debt securities, 
 investment properties after initial recognition, which are measured at fair value with changes 
 reflected in the comprehensive operating statement (fair value through profit and loss).

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Inspectorate determines the policies and 
procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment, 
biological assets, investment properties and financial instruments and for non recurring fair 
value measurements such as non financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the 
requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets  
 or liabilities 

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the  
 fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the  
 fair value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Inspectorate has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level 
of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, the Inspectorate determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 The Valuer General Victoria (VGV) is the Inspectorate’s independent valuation agency. 
 The Inspectorate, in conjunction with VGV [and other external valuers, if applicable], monitors  
 changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine  
 whether revaluation is required.

(c) Reporting entity

The financial statements cover the Inspectorate as an individual reporting entity.

The financial statements include all activities of the Inspectorate. 

Its principal address is: 
Victorian Inspectorate 
Level 8 
565 Bourke Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 

Enabling legislation (Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011)

The Inspectorate is a body corporate established under Part 8 of the Victorian Inspectorate Act 
2011 operating under the auspices of the Department of Justice and reporting to Parliament 
through the Attorney-General. The Inspectorate’s objectives, functions, powers and duties are  
set out in sections 11 and 12 of the Act.
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Objectives and Funding 
Objectives 
The main functions of the Victorian Inspectorate, under the Act, are:

• monitor legislative compliance of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption (IBAC) 
 agency and IBAC personnel with the IBAC Act 2011 and other laws;

• monitor legislative compliance of a Public Interest Monitor with the prescribed obligations

• assess the effectiveness and appropriateness of the policies and procedures of the IBAC 
 which relate to the legality and propriety of IBAC’s activities

• receive complaints under the Act in accordance with the Act

• investigate and assess the conduct of the IBAC and IBAC personnel in the performance  
 or exercise of purported performance or purported exercise of their duties, functions  
 and powers

• report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the performance of its duties  
 and functions

Funding 
The Inspectorate is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory functions. 
Funds are  from accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by Parliament 
through the Department of Justice (DoJ).

(d) Scope and presentation of financial statements

Comprehensive operating statement 
The comprehensive operating statement comprises three components, being ‘net result from 
transactions’ (or termed as ‘net operating balance’), ‘other economic flows included in net result’, 
as well as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’. The sum of the former two, 
together with the net result from discontinued operations, represents the net result.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.

This classification is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed 
under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Balance sheet 
Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets 
and non-financial assets.

Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those assets or liabilities 
expected to be recovered or settled beyond 12 months) are disclosed in the notes, where relevant.

Cash flow statement 
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating, investing, or 
financing activities. This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 Statement 
of Cash Flows.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank 
overdrafts, which are included as current borrowings on the balance sheet. 



37

Statement of changes in equity 

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner 
changes in equity from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing 
balance at the end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts 
recognised in the ‘comprehensive result’ and amounts recognised in ‘other economic flows - 
other movements in equity’ related to ‘transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.

Rounding 
Amounts in the financial statement have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise 
stated. Figures in the financial statements may not equal due to rounding. Please refer to the end 
of Note 21 for style convention and explanation of minor discrepancies resulting from rounding.

(e) Changes in Accounting Policies

Subsequent to the 2012-13 reporting period, the following new and revised Standards have been 
adopted in the current period with their financial impacts detailed as below.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements. AASB 13 does 
not change when the Inspectorate is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on 
how to measure fair value under Australian Accounting Standards when fair value is required 
or permitted. The Inspectorate has considered the specific requirements relating to highest 
and best use, valuation premise, and principal (or most advantageous) market. The methods, 
assumptions, processes and procedures for determining fair value were revisited and adjusted 
where applicable. In light of AASB 13, the Inspectorate has reviewed the fair value principles as 
well as its current valuation methodologies in assessing the fair value, and the assessment has 
not materially changed the fair values recognised

However, AASB 13 has predominantly impacted the disclosures of the Inspectorate. It requires 
specific disclosures about fair value measurements and disclosures of fair values, some of 
which replace existing disclosure requirements in other standards, including AASB 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures.

The disclosure requirements of AASB 13 apply prospectively and need not be applied in 
comparative information before first application. Consequently, the 2012-13 comparatives of 
these disclosures have not been provided, except for financial instruments, of which the fair value 
disclosures are required under AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 
In 2013 14, the Inspectorate has applied AASB 119 Employee benefits (September 2011, as 
amended) and the related consequential amendments for the first time. 

The revised AASB 119 changes the accounting for defined benefit plans and termination benefits. 
The most significant change relates to the accounting for changes in defined benefit obligation 
and plan assets. As the current accounting policy is for the Department of Treasury and Finance 
to recognise and disclose the State’s defined benefit liabilities in its financial statements, changes 
in defined benefit obligations and plan assets will have limited impact on the Inspectorate. 

The revised standard also changes the definition of short term employee benefits. These were 
previously benefits that were expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of 
the reporting period in which the employees render the related service, however, short term 
employee benefits are now defined as benefits expected to be settled wholly within twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related service. 
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As a result, accrued annual leave balances which were previously classified by the Inspectorate 
as short term employee benefits no longer meet this definition and are now classified as long 
term employee benefits. This has resulted in a change of measurement for the annual leave 
provision from an undiscounted to discounted basis.

Comparative amounts for 2012-13 and the related amounts as at 1 July 2012 have been restated in 
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions set out in AASB 119. The impact is as follows:

Impact on comprehensive results 

2012-2013 
$

Decrease in employee expense 281

Impacts on liabilities and equity 

As at 01/06/12 as 
previously reported

AASB 119 
adjustments

As at 01/06/12 
(restated)

Current employee benefit 
Provision – annual leave 
Accumulated surplus

 
N/A 

N/A

 

N/A 

N/A

 

N/A 

N/A

As at 30/05/13 as 
previously reported *

AASB 119 
adjustments

As at 30/05/13 
(restated)

Current employee benefit 
Provision – annual leave 
Accumulated surplus

 
56,811 
34,386

 
-281 
281

 
56,530 
34,667

* Please refer to Note 5, Correction of error from prior year.

(f) Income from transactions

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and the income can be reliably measured at fair value.

Grants 
Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the Inspectorate 
obtains control over the contribution.

Interest 
Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits and other investments and the 
unwinding over time of the discount on financial assets. Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method which allocates the interest over the relevant period. 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective 
yield on the financial assets.

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration 
Contributions of resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised 
at fair value when control is obtained over them, irrespective of whether these contributions 
are subject to restrictions or conditions over their use. Contributions in the form of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been 
purchased if not received as a donation.
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DOJ has been centrally funded for services it provides to the Inspectorate. These services are 
not recognised in the financial statements of the Inspectorate as their fair values can not be 
reliably determined. The services that are utilised include the use of the Department’s office 
accommodation, financial systems, payroll systems, accounts payable, asset register and IT 
network.

(g) Expenses from transactions

Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial 
year to which they relate. 

Employee expenses 
Refer to the section in Notes 1(l) regarding employee benefits.

These expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is 
accounted for separately) including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments and Work Cover premiums. 

Superannuation 
The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement is the employer contributions 
for members of both defined benefit and defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid 
or payable to these plans during the reporting period. 

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in their annual financial statements, disclose 
on behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer, the net defined benefit cost related to the 
members of these plans as an administered liability. Refer to DTF’s Annual Financial Statements 
for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans. 

Depreciation 
All plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets (excluding items under operating 
leases and assets held for sale) that have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is 
generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.

Refer to Note 1(k) for the depreciation policy for leasehold improvement.

The estimated useful lives, residual vales and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate. 

The following are typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for both current 
and prior years.

• computer and communication equipment – 5 years

• plant and equipment – 5 years

• leasehold improvements – 5 years

Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal 
operations. 

(i) Supplies and services 
Supplies and services costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they 
are incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expenses when 
distributed.
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(h) Other economic flows included in the net result

Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not 
result from transactions.

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and 
losses as follows:

Disposal of non-financial assets 
Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is 
determined after deducting from the proceeds the carrying value of the asset at that time.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available 
for use) are tested annually for impairment (as described below) and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.

All other assets are assessed annually for indications of impairment.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their 
carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an other economic flow, except to the extent 
that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that 
class of asset.

If there is an indication that  there has been a change in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased 
to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. 

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits 
arising from the use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has 
been made. The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily 
to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.  

Refer to Note 1(k) in relation to the recognition and measurement of non-financial assets. 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes: 
• realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments  
 at fair value;

• impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost  
 (refer to Note 1(i)); and 

• disposals of financial assets. 
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Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from: 
• the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the 
 bond interest rates. 

(i) Financial instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the 
Inspectorate’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather 
than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial 
instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory receivables 
arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial instruments as 
they do not arise under contract. However, guarantees issued by the Treasurer on behalf of the 
Department are financial instruments because, although authorised under statute, the terms and 
conditions for each financial guarantee may vary and are subject to an agreement.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial 
assets and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with 
AASB 132 and those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that 
are not quoted on an active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and deposits (refer to Note 1(j)), term deposits 
with maturity greater than three months, trade receivables, loans and other receivables, but not 
statutory receivables.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They 
are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any 
difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in 
profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate 
method (refer to Note 1(f)).

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all the Inspectorate’s 
contractual payables, deposits held and advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements 
other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss.

(j) Financial assets

Cash and deposits 
Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, 
deposits at call and those highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or 
less), which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for 
investment purposes, and readily convertible to known amounts of cash with an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.
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For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank 
overdrafts, which are included as borrowings on the balance sheet.

Receivables

Receivables consist of: 
• contractual receivables, such as debtors in relation to goods and services  
 (refer to Note 1(n) Leases).

• statutory receivables, such as amounts owing from the Victorian Government and Goods  
 and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. 

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and 
receivables (refer to Note 1(i) Financial Instruments for recognition and measurement). Statutory 
receivables, are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for 
impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a 
contract.

Receivables are subject to impairment testing as described below. A provision for doubtful 
receivables is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected, 
and bad debts are written off when identified.

(k) Non-financial assets

Plant and equipment 
All non financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or 
nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a 
machinery of government change are transferred at their carrying amount. 

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, 
such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using 
the depreciated replacement cost method.  There were no changes in valuation techniques 
throughout the period to 30 June 2014. For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is 
considered the highest and best use. The Inspectorate applies an individual asset capitalisation 
threshold of $5,000. Individual acquisitions below this value are expensed.

Leasehold improvements 
The cost of a leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the  
shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements.

Other non-financial assets

Prepayments 
The Inspectorate has no prepayments.

(l) Liabilities

Payables consist of:

• contractual payables, such as accounts payable, and unearned income.

• Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Inspectorate 
 prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Inspectorate 
 becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and 
 services; and
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Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial 
liabilities at amortised cost (refer to Note 8). Statutory payables are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included 
in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Inspectorate has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.   

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using 
discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
received from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Employee benefits

(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non monetary benefits annual leave and 
accumulating sick leave, are all recognised in the provision for employee benefits as ‘current 
liabilities’, because the Inspectorate does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements  
of these liabilities. 

Depends on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave are measured at:

• undiscounted value  if the Inspectorate expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 

• present value  if the Inspectorate does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

(ii) Long service leave

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even 
where the Inspectorate does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not 
have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take 
leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

• undiscounted value  if the Department expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and

• present value if the Department does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
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Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is 
recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond 
interest rates for which it is then recognised as an other economic flow (refer to Note 1(h)).

(iii) Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date, or when an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination 
of employment. The Inspectorate recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

(iv) On-costs

Provisions for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are 
recognised separately from provision for employee benefits.

(m) Correction of error

 During the 2013 financial year, the VI recognised an accrual for an amount that was paid prior to 
the end of that financial year. This resulted in an over statement of expenses by $30,328 and an 
over statement of payables in the balance sheet. The net result and accumulated surplus were 
under stated due to the error, by the same amount. 

(n) Leases

 A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. 

 Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the 
economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risk and reward incidental to 
ownership. Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance infrastructure 
leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  

Operating lease  

The Inspectorate as Lessee

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the 
comprehensive operating statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from 
the use of the leased asset. The leased asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an 
integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the 
incentive’s nature or form or the timing of payments.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate cost 
of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-
line basis, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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(o) Equity

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have 
also been designated as contributions by owners.

(p)  Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure including operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their nominal value and exclusive 
of the goods and services tax (GST) payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and 
provides relevant information to users, the net present values of significant individual projects 
are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related 
liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

(q)  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are 
disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets 
and liabilities are presented exclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

(r) Accounting for the goods and services tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where 
the GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, the GST payable is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, 
are presented as operating cash flow.

 Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are also stated inclusive of GST (refer to 
Notes 1(o) and 1(p).

The Department of Justice manages the GST transactions on behalf of the Inspectorate and the 
net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to, the taxation authority is recognised in the 
Department of Justice’s financial statements. 

(s) Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

Certain new AASs have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2014 reporting 
period. DTF assesses the impact of these new standards and advises departments and other 
entities of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2014, the following AASs have been issued by the AASB but are not yet effective. 
They become effective for the first financial statement for reporting periods commencing after 
the stated operative dates as follows; 
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(t) Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective (continued)

 

Standard/ 
Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning after

Impact on financial 
statements

AASB 9 Financial 
instruments

This standard simplifies 
requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial assets 
resulting from Phase 1 of the IASB’s 
project to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement (AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement).

1 January  
2017

Subject to AASB’s further 
modifications to AASB 9, 
together with the anticipated 
changes resulting from 
the staged projects on 
impairments and hedge 
accounting, details of impacts 
will be assessed.
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16.2 Note 2.  Income from transactions

2014 
$

2013 
$

(a) Grants 
Department of Justice

 
2,418,100 

 
821,600 

Total grants 2,418,100 821,600 

Total income from transactions 2,418,100 821,600 

16.3 Note 3.  Expenses from transactions

2014 
$

2013 
$

(a) Employee expenses 
Post Employment benefits 
     Defined contribution superannuation expense 
     Private funds – Defined benefit superannuation expense

Salaries and wages 
Annual leave and long service leave 
Target Separation

Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and workcover levy)

 
 

40,773  
24,802 

1,065,900  
175,041  
25,759 

103,544 

 
 

17,780  
6,741 

426,461  
138,176  

- 

19,126 

Total employee expenses 1,435,818  608,284 

(b) Supplies and Services 
Professional Services 
Information Technology 
Rent and Utilities 
Other

 
28,100 
36,455  

365,128  
114,421 

 
13,838  
26,383  

120,251  
19,857 

Total supplies and services 544,104 180,329 

(c) Depreciation and Amortisation 
Depreciation - Plant & Equipment 
Amortisation - Building Leasehold Improvements 
Amortisation - Motor Vehicles VicFleet

 
943  

451,772  
4,046 

 
- 
- 
-

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 456,761 -

16.4 Note 4.  Other economic flows included in net result

2014 
$

2013 
$

Other gain/(loss) from other economic flows 
Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability (i)

 
2,141 

 
1,680 

Total gain/(loss) from other economic flows 2,141 1,680 

Note: (i) Revaluation gain/(loss) due to changes in government bond rates.
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16.5 Note 5.  Correction of error from prior year

 
 
Comprehensive operating statement

 
2013 

$

2013 
Restated 

$

Income from transactions 
     Grant – Department of Justice

 
2

 
821,600 

 
821,600

Total Income from transactions 821,600 821,600

Expenses from transactions 
     Employee expenses (i) 
     Supplies and Services 
     Depreciation and Amortisation

 
3a 
3b 
3c

 
608,565 
210,657 

- 

 
608,284 
180,329 

- 

Total Expenses from transactions 819,223 788,613 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 2,377 32,987 

Other economic flows included in net result 
     Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

 
4

 
1,680

 
1,680

Total other economic flows included in net result 4 1,680 1,680

Net Result from continuing operations 4,057  34,667 

Net Result 4,057  34,667

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income 0 -

Total other economic flows – other comprehensive income 0 -

Comprehensive result (ii) 4,057  34,667

(i) Refer to note 1(e) for details of a further change to this figure as a result of revised  
 Australian accounting standards. 
(ii) The Comprehenisve result for 2013 has increased by the amount of the error, $30,328

 
 
Balance sheet

 
2013 

$

2013 
Restated 

$

Assets 
Financial assets 
     Receivables

 
 
6

 
 

211,541

 
 

211,541

Total financial assets 211,541 211,541

Non-Financial Assets 
     Property, plant and equipment

 
7

 
271,976 

 
271,976

Total assets 483,517 483,517

Liabilities 
     Payables 
     Provisions 
     Borrowings

 
8 & 9 
10 

11 & 12

 
56,088 
151,114 

- 

 
25,760 

151,114 
- 

Total liabilities 207,202 176,874 

Net assets 276,315  306,643 

Equity 
     Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
     Contributed Capital

 
4,057 

271,976 

 
34,667 

271,976 

Net worth 276,033 306,643 

The Net Worth has increased by the amount of the error, $30,328.
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Note 5.  Correction of error from prior year (continued)  

Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 30 June 2014

$ 
Accumulated 

Surplus 

$ 
Contributions  

by Owner 

 
$ 

Total

Balance at 1 July 2012 - -

Net result for the year 
Capital appropriation

 4,057 
- 

 - 
271,976 

 4,057 
271,976 

Balance at 30 June 2013  4,057 271,976  276,033 

Balance at 1 July 2012 - -

Net result for the year – restated 
Capital appropriation

 34,667 
- 

 - 
271,976 

 34,667 
271,976 

Balance at 30 June 2013 restated  34,667 271,976  306,643 

Equity for 2013 has increased by the error in the accounts of $30,328.
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16.6 Note 6.  Receivables 

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current receivables 
Statutory 
Amounts owing from Department of Justice (i)

 
 

213,582 

 
 

174,890 

Total current receivables 213,582 174,890 

Non-current receivables 
Statutory 
Amounts owing from Department of Justice (i)

 
 

60,893 

 
 

36,651 

Total non-current receivables 60,893 36,651

Total receivables 274,475 211,541 

Notes: (i) The amounts recognised from DOJ represent funding for all commitments incurred through 
 the appropriations and are drawn down as the commitments fall due.

16.7 Note 7.  Property Plant & Equipment

Classification by ‘Public safety and environment’ Purpose Group – Movements in carrying amounts

Table 7.1  Gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation

Leasehold fitout  
at fair value

Plant and equipment  
at fair value

Motor vehicles leased  
at fair value

Total property plant  
and equipment

Gross Carrying  
Amount

Accumulated  
Depreciation Total-------

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

 3,535,716  271,976  (451,772)  -    3,083,943  271,976 

            

 42,395 -  (4,989) -  37,406 -

32,961 -  (4,046) -  28,915 -

3,578,111 271,976 (456,761) - 3,121,349 271,976 
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Table 7.2  Movements in carrying amounts

Leasehold 
Improvements  

at fair value

Total

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

Opening balance 
Additions 
Disposals 
Depreciation

271,976 
3,263,740  

 
(451,772)

- 
271,976 

- 
-

 271,976  
 
 

(451,772)

271,976 

Closing balance 3,083,943 271,976 (179,796) 271,976 

Plant and equipment  
at air value

Opening balance 
Additions 
Disposals 
Depreciation

- 
 9,434  

- 
 (943)

- 
- 
- 
-

- 
9,434 

- 
(943)

- 
- 
- 
-

Closing balance 8,491  - 8,491 -

Motor vehicles  
at fair value

Opening balance 
Additions 
Disposals 
Depreciation

 - 
32,961 

- 
(4,046)

- 
- 
- 
-

- 
32,961 

- 
(4,046)

- 
- 
- 
-

Closing balance  28,915 -  28,915 -

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that 
it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciation 
replacement cost method.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2014.

For all asssets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
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Table 7.3  Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2014

Carrying amount  
as at 30 June 2014 

$

Fair value measurement at end 
of reporting period using: 

$

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i)

Leasehold fitout 
Leasehold fitout at fair value

 
3,083,943 

 
3,083,943

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment at fair value

 
 8,491  

 
 8,491 

Total of plant, equipment  
and vehicles at fair value

 
 28,915 

 
 28,915 

Notes: (i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1(B). 
 
Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

Valuation 
technique (i)

Significant unobservable 
inputs (i)

Range (weighted 
average) (i)

Sensitivity of fair value 
measurement to changes 

in significant unobservable 
inputs

Plant and 
equipment

Depreciated 
replacement  

cost 

Cost per unit $9,434

A significant increase or 
decrease in cost per unit 

would result in a significantly 
higher or lower fair value

Useful life of plant and 
equipment

5 years 

A significant increase or 
decrease in the estimated 

useful life of the asset would 
result in a significantly higher 

or lower valuation.

Leasehold 
Improvements

Depreciated 
replacement  

cost 

Cost per square metre $3,585 per square metre

A significant increase or 
decrease in cost per square 

metre would result in a 
significantly higher or lower 

fair value

Lease period 5 years

A significant increase or 
decrease in the lease period 
would result in a significantly 

higher or lower valuation.

Motor Vehicle
Depreciated 
replacement  

cost 

Cost per unit $32,961

A significant increase or 
decrease in cost per unit 

would result in a significantly 
higher or lower fair value

Lease period 5 years

A significant increase or 
decrease in the estimated 

useful life of the asset would 
result in a significantly higher 

or lower valuation.

(i) Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are held at fair value. When plant and equipment and leasehold 
improvements are specialised in use, such that they are rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined 
using the depreciation replacement cost method. The motor vehicle is also measured at a depreciated replacement cost method.



53

16.8 Note 8.  Payables

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current payables 
Contractual 
Supplies and services

 
 

23,520 

 
 

25,679 

23,520 25,679 

(i) Statutory 
Fringe benefits tax payable

 
5,894 

 
81 

5,894 81

Total payables 29,413 25,760 

Note: (i) Where amount of taxes payable is material, entities should present statutory ‘taxes payable’  
 in the note broken down by classes of taxes, i.e. GST payable, FBT payable, income tax payable, 
 and other taxes payable, as appropriate

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables 
Please refer to Table 15.2 in Note 15 for the maturity analysis of contractual payables.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables 
Please refer to Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.

16.9 Note 9.  Superannuation

Employees of the Inspectorate are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Inspectorate 
contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides 
benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The Inspectorate does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the 
entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only 
obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. DTF recognises and discloses the 
State’s defined benefit liabilities in its financial report.

However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part  
of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the Inspectorate.

The name, details and amounts expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds  
and contributions made by the Inspectorate are as follows:

Fund
Paid contribution  

for the year
Contribution outstanding  

at year end

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

VicSuper 
Other

40,773  
24,802 

17,780  
6,741 

 - 
- 

 - 
- 

Total  65,574 24,521  -  - 
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16.10 Note 10.  Provisions

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current provisions 
Employee benefits (i) (Note 10(a)) - annual leave 
     Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 
     Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii) 
Employee benefits (i) (Note 10(a)) - long service leave: 
     Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 
     Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii)

 
 

71,807 
10,977 

 
2,586 

53,440  

 
 

46,496 
8,154 

 
19,507 
23,260 

 138,810  97,417 

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs (Note 10(a))  
and Note 10(b)): 
     Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 
     Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii)

 
 

15,214 
11,920  

 
 

12,120 
4,926 

Total current provisions  27,134  17,046 

Non-current provisions 
(i) Employee benefits (Note 10(a)) - long service leave 
On-costs

 
52,481 

8,412  

 
32,072 

4,579 

Total non-current provisions  60,893  36,651 

Total provisions 226,837 151,114 

Notes: (i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave 
  accrued for employees, not including on-costs. 
 (ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts. 
 (iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values. 
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(a) Employee benefits and on-costs (i) 

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current employee benefits 
Annual Leave 
Long Service Leave

 
82,784 
 56,026  

 
54,650 
42,767 

Non-current employee benefits 
Long Service Leave

 
 52,481 

 
32,072 

Total employee benefits  191,291 129,489 

Current on-costs 
Non-current on-costs

27,134 
 8,412 

17,046 
4,579

Total on-costs 35,546   21,625 

Total employee benefits and on-costs  226,837  151,114 

Notes: (i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave 
  accrued for employees, not including on-costs. 
 (ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts. 
 (iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values. 

(b) Movement in provisions

On-costs 

2014 
$

2013 
$

Opening balance 
Additional provisions recognised

21,625 
 13,921  

- 
21,625

Closing balance 35,546   21,625 

Current 
Non-current

 27,134  
 8,412  

17,046 
4,579 

35,546   21,625 

16.11 Note 11.  Leases 
Operating leases 
Commitments under a non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are as follows:

Table 11.1

2014 
$

2013 
$

Not longer than 1 year 
Longer than one year and not later than 5 years 
Longer than 5

421,568 
1,458,900  

- 

317,721 
1,880,468  

- 

Total commitments  1,880,468  2,198,189 

Leasing arrangements 
The operating lease relates to office facilities in Collins Street that ceased in September 2013 when the 
Inspectorate moved from their current premises to their new premises in Bourke Street.

The Bourke Street office facilities have an initial lease term of 5 years, terminating as at March 2018 with 
an option to extend for a further 5 years. The Inspectorate does not have an option to purchase the leased 
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asset at the expiry of the lease period.

Finance leases

Leasing arrangements 
Finance leases relate to a motor vehicle with a lease terms of 3 years.

Table 11.2

Minimum future lease 
payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

Finance lease liabilities payable (ii) 
Not longer than one year

Longer than one year but not longer 
than five years

Minimum future lease payments 
Less future finance charges

 
8,048 

 
23,001 

 31,049 
(1,962)

 
- 

 
- 

 - 
-

  
6,880 

  
22,207 

 29,088 
 - 

 
- 

 
- 

 - 
-

Present value of minimum  
lease payments

 
29,088 

 
29,088

Note: (i) Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all base payments and  
  any guaranteed residual.

 (ii) Secured by the leased asset. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the 
  leased asset reverts to the lessor in the event of default.

16.12 Note 12.  Borrowings

Table 12.1

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current borrowings 
(i) Finance lease liabilities 
Finance lease liabilities

  
 

6,880 

 
 
-

Total current borrowings 6,880 -

Non-current borrowings 
(i) Finance lease liabilities 
Finance lease liabilities

  
 

22,207 

 
 
-

Total non-current borrowings 22,207 -

Total borrowings 29,088 -

Note: (i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the 
  leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings 
Please refer to Table 2 of Note 11 above for the maturity analysis of borrowings.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings 
Please refer to Note 15 for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings.
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16.13 Note 13.  Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure commitments 
Fitout for the Bourke St premises is complete.  
Futher work will be required on the security of the building but costs are unknown at this stage.

Table 13.1

2014 
$

2013 
$

Not longer than 1 year  -  2,517,000 

Total commitments  -  2,517,000 

 
(b) Other expenditure commitments 
There are no other expenditure commitments.

16.14 Note 14.  Contingent Assets and Liabilities

There were no contingent assets or contingent liabilities at balance date.

16.15 Note 15.  Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Inspectorate’s principal financial instruments comprise: 
 • cash assets; 
 • receivables (excluding statutory receivables); 
 • payables (excluding statutory payables); and  
 • borrowings.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 
the basis of measurement, and the basis on which expenses and income are recognised, with respect to 
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 1 to the 
financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Inspectorate’s financial 
risks within the government policy parameters.
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Table 15.1.  Categorisation of financial instruments 

Contractual financial liabilities 
$

2014 
Contractual financial liabilities 
(i) Payables

 
 

23,520

Total contractual financial liabilities 23,520

2013 
Contractual financial liabilities 
(i) Payables

 
 

25,679

Total contractual financial liabilities 25,679

Contractual borrowings at amortised cost 
$

2014 
Contractual financial liabilities 
(i) Borrowings

 
 

29,088

Total contractual borrowings 29,088

2013 
Contractual financial liabilities 
(i) Borrowings

 
 
-

Total contractual borrowings -

Note: (i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from 
  Victorian Government and taxes payable).

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Inspectorate, which comprise cash and 
deposits. The Inspectorate’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the counter party 
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Inspectorate. Credit risk is measured at 
fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Inspectorate would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and 
when they fall due. The Inspectorate operates under the Government fair payments policy of settling 
financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, make payments within 30 days from the 
date of resolution.

Credit risk associated with the Inspectorate’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main 
debtor is the Victorian Government. For debtors other than the Government, it is the Inspectorate’s policy 
to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a minimum triple B rating and to obtain sufficient 
collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

The Inspectorate’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on the current assessment  
of risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Inspectorate’s contractual  
financial liabilities.
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Table 15.2.  Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities (i)

Maturity Dates

Carrying 
amount 

$

Nominal 
amount 

$

Less than  
1 month 

$

3 months  
to 1 year 

$

1 year to 
 5 years 

$

 
5+ years  

$

2014 
Payables (ii)

 
23,520

 
23,520

 
23,520

 
-

 
-

 
-

23,520 23,520 23,520 - - -

2013 
Payables (ii)

 
25,679

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

25,679 - - - - -

2014 
Borrowings (ii)

 
29,088

 
29,088

 
-

 
6,880 

 
22,207 

 
-

29,088 29,088 - 6,880 22,207 -

2013 
Borrowings (ii)

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

- - - - - -

Notes: (i) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 (ii) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (E.g. FBT payables).

(d) Market risk 
The Inspectorate’s exposure to market risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and 
current assessment of risk. 

(e) Fair Value 
The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:  
 • Level 1 – the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded 
  in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

 • Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are 
  observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

 • Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 
  based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Inspectorate considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 
in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature 
of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.
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16.16 Note 16.  Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

2014 
$

2013 
$

Total cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the Balance sheet (i) - -

Balance as per Cash flow statement - -

Note: (i) Due to the State of Victoria’s investment policy and government funding arrangements, 
government departments and agencies generally do not hold a large cash reserve in their 
bank accounts. Cash received by a department and agencies from the generation of revenue 
is generally paid into the State’s bank account, known as the Public Account. Similarly, any 
departmental or agency expenditure, including those in the form of cheques drawn by the 
Institute for the payment of goods and services to its suppliers and creditors are made via 
the Public Account. The process is such that, the Public Account would remit cash required 
for the amount drawn on the cheques. This remittance by the Public Account occurs upon the 
presentation of the cheques by the Inspectorate’s suppliers or creditors.

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period 

2014 
$

2013 
$

Net result for the period

Non-cash movements 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

Movements in assets and liabilities 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 
(Decrease)/increase in payables 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions

(16,442)

 
456,761

  
(62,934) 

3,826  
75,723 

34,949  

 
 -  

 
(211,541) 

25,760  
150,832  

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 456,935   - 
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16.17 Note 17.  Responsible Persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the 
reporting period.

Names 
The persons who held positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers in the Inspectorate are as follows: 

Acting Attorney-General

Attorney-General

Victorian Inspectorate

The Hon. Gordon Rich-Phillips MLC 
The Hon. Louise Asher MP 
 
The Hon. Robert Clark, MP

Robin Brett QC

1 July 2013 to 19 July 2013 
20 July 2013 to 21 July 2013 
 
22 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

Remuneration 
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer in connection with the management of 
the Inspectorate during the reporting period was in the range: 
$400,000 to $410,000 ($190,000 to $199,999 in 2012-13)

Amounts relating to Ministers are reported in the financial report of the Department of Premier  
and Cabinet.

Other transactions 
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Minister for Finance 
have been considered and there are no matters to report.

Related party transactions 
During the financial year, the Inspectorate and the Department of Justice conducted business 
transactions at arms length and at normal commercial terms.
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16.18 Note 18.  Remuneration of executives

The number of executive officers, other than ministers and the accountable officer, and their total 
remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their 
relevant income bands. The base remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth 
columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy 
payments and retirement benefits. The total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of  
full-time equivalent executives over the reporting period.

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2014 2013 2014 2013

Income band 
$140,000 - $149,999

 
1

 
-

 
1

 
-

Total number of executives 1 - 1 -

Total annualised employee 
equivalent (AEE) (i)

 
1

 
-

 
1

 
-

Total Amount 144,108 - 144,108 -

 
(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the  
reporting period.

Remuneration of executives does not include any statutory appointment.

No contractors held significant management responsibilities in the Inspectorate’s office.

16.19 Note 19.  Remuneration of auditors

 
2014

 
2013

Victorian Auditor-General's Office 
Audit of the financial statements

 
11,700 

 
8,225

 11,700 8,225

16.20 Note 20.  Subsequent Events 
No events that should be reported have occurred after the end of the financial year.
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16.21 Note 21.  Glossary of terms

Commitments 
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result 
The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of 
operating result and other comprehensive income.

Depreciation 
Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical 
or intangible asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from 
transaction’.

Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period. 

Employee benefits expenses 
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe 
benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and 
defined contribution superannuation plans.

Financial asset 
A financial asset is any asset that is:

 (a) cash;

 (b) an equity instrument of another equity;

 (c) a contractual or statutory right;

 • to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

 • to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that 
  are potentially favourable to the entity; and

 (d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

 • a non derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the 
  entity’s own equity instruments; or

 • a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash  
  or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual 
(such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by 
governments) are not financial instruments.
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Financial liability 
A financial liability is any liability that is:

 (a) a contractual obligation: 
  (i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
  (ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 
   that are potentially unfavourable to the entity. 
 (b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 
  (i) a non derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number  
   of the entity’s own equity instruments; or 
  (ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount 
   of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
   instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own equity instruments do not include 
   instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the  
   entity’s own equity instruments. 

Financial statements 
A complete set of financial statements comprises: 
 (a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period; 
 (b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period; 
 (c) a statement of changes in equity for the period; 
 (d) a cash flow statement for the period; 
 (e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other  
  explanatory information; 
 (f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraphs 38  
  of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements; and 
 (g) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity 
  applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items 
  in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements in 
  accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.

Interest expense 
Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds Interest expenses include interest on bank 
overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 
borrowings, interest component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and 
non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Interest income 
Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on 
bank term deposits and other investments. 

Net result 
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of 
items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are 
classified as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’.
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Net result from transaction/net operating balance 
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from 
transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability 
of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in 
the volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be 
attributed directly to government policies.

Net worth 
Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land buildings, 
infrastructure and plant and equipment.

Other economic flows included in net result 
Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that 
do not result from transactions. It includes: 
 • gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non financial physical  
  and intangible assets;  
 • fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural assets; and  
 • depletion of natural assets (non produced) from their use or removal 

Payables 
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.

Produced assets 
Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain 
intangible assets. Intangible produced assets may include computer software, motion picture films, 
and research and development costs (which does not include the start up costs associated with capital 
projects).

Receivables 
Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term trade 
credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Supplies and services 
Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including 
maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Inspectorate. 

Transactions 
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually 
an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an entity such 
as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as 
the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions 
between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free 
of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In simple terms, 
transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.
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Style conventions 
Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying 
unrounded amounts.

 .. zero, or rounded to zero

 (xxx.x) negative numbers

 200x year period

 200x 0x year period

The financial statements and notes are presented based on the illustration for a government 
department in the 2013-14 Model Report for Victorian Government Departments. The presentation of 
other disclosures is generally consistent with the other disclosures made in earlier publications of the 
Inspectorate’s annual reports. 
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17 DISCLOSURE INDEX

The annual report of the Inspectorate is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations 
and pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Inspectorate’s 
compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Ministerial Directions 
Report of operations – FRD guidance

Legislation Requirement
Page 

reference

Charter and purpose

FRD 22E 
FRD 22E 
FRD 22E

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 
Objectives, functions, powers and duties 
Nature and range of services provided

 
 

Management and structure

FRD 22E Organisational structure

Financial and other information

FRD 10 
FRD 22E 
FRD 22E 
FRD 22E 
FRD 24C 
FRD 29 
SD 4.5.5.1

Disclosure index 
Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 
Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 
Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure 2012  
Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 
Workforce Data disclosures 
Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5.1 compliance attestation

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD4.2(a) 
SD4.2(b) 
SD4.2(b) 
SD4.2(b)

Statement of changes in equity 
Operating statement 
Balance sheet 
Cash flow statement

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2 

SD4.2(c) 
 
SD4.2(c) 
SD4.2(d) 
SD4.2(c)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and  
other authoritative pronouncements 
Compliance with Ministerial Directions 
Rounding of amounts 
Accountable officer’s declaration

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

FRD 21B 
 
  
FRD 103D 
FRD 110 
FRD 114A 

Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other 
Personnel (Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities)  
in the Financial Report 
Non-current Physical Assets 
Cash Flow Statements 
Financial Instruments – General Government Entities and Public  
Non Financial Corporations

Legislation 

Freedom of Information Act 1982 
Building Act 1983 
Protected Disclosure Act 2001
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PO Box 617 Collins Street West
Melbourne  Victoria  8007

Telephone  03 8614 3225
Facsimile  03 8614 3200

info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au
vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au


